S184929

Case	No.:		
Case	100.:		

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JAMSHID ARYEH, Plaintiff and Appellant,

SUPREME COURT FILED

VS.

JUL 3 0 2010

CANON BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, INC, Defendant and Respondent.

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight Case No. B213104

PETITION FOR REVIEW

R. Duane Westrup, SBN 58610 Mark L. Van Buskirk, SBN 190419 Jennifer L. Connor, SBN 241480 WESTRUP KLICK, LLP

444 Ocean Boulevard, Suite 1614 Long Beach, California 90802-4524

Telephone No.: (562) 432-2551 Facsimile No.: (562) 435-4856

E-Mail: jconnor@wkalaw.com

Linda Guthmann Krieger, SBN 148728

QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents the following question for review:

In a UCL case, where the same discrete wrongful act giving rise to damage occurs repeatedly, does the statutory clock start only once when plaintiff first discovers the wrong or does it run anew each time a defendant invades plaintiff's rights and causes injury?

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case presents the important and unsettled legal issue about how to apply the statue of limitations in a *Bus. & Prof. Code* § 17200 *et seq.* (Unfair Competition Law ("UCL")) case involving multiple, repeated wrongful acts, whereby each separate discrete act produces immediate and separate injury, occurring both within and outside the statute of limitations. Review is warranted for two primary reasons: First, resolving the question of whether the UCL statute of limitations begins to run on the first-occurrence of actionable

wrong or runs anew with each subsequent free-standing violation greatly impacts the extent to which victims of unfair business practices can vindicate their rights. Although the issue is sparse in the context of the UCL, it is germane to contract disputes, infringement litigation, and actions governed by Cal. Code of Civ. Pro. § 338(a). It is also consistent with the UCL's consumer protection scheme that anticipates remedying recurring conduct, (i.e., "unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business practices") as well as single-isolated offenses (i.e., "unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business act").

Second, conflicting precedent shows judicial confusion as to the role a plaintiff's discovery of wrongdoing should have, if any, in applying the UCL statute of limitations. In a case that disavowed application of equitable tolling and delayed discovery, the Court of Appeals still used Plaintiff's knowledge, not to extend accrual, but rather to bar claims based on independent conduct that occurred within the limitations period. Given that a UCL claim is not dependent on plaintiff's knowledge, the Second District's offensive use of a plaintiff's discovery of wrongdoing is unprecedented.

The impact of the Second District's holding that, when a defendant's

¹The 1992 Amendment to *Bus. & Prof. Code* § 17200 changed the formerly plural term "practices" to the singular term "act" preceded by the singular modified "any." <u>Klein v. Earth Elements, Inc.</u> (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 965, 969, 69 Cal.Rptr.2d 623 (observing that the plain meaning of the amendment is that the UCL now covers single acts of misconduct.)

wrongful acts cover a period of time, a UCL cause of action accrues only once at the time of the initial act is far-reaching. If the statutory clock begins to run when the first violation occurs, irrespective of a defendant's subsequent repeated wrongful acts, then plaintiffs who do not bring UCL claims within four years will lose the ability to seek recourse forever. If the first violation is the only one that can be sued upon, then defendants who "escape" the statutory time frame will be given carte blanche to continue to invade a plaintiff's rights indefinitely. For example, in the consumer context, if hypothetically, a creditor repeatedly charged fraudulent amounts to consumers' credit cards, and the first violation was the only one that could be sued upon, then consumers who paid the longest and suffered the most would be left without any remedy at all, while newer consumers could recover for the violations they suffered. Both sets of consumers suffered the same violation during the limitations period, but they will be treated differently in that those subjected to wrongdoing more than four years ago will be completely denied recovery while more recent victims can sue.

As Justice Rubin wrote in his ten-page dissenting opinion, "The injunctive relief authorized by the UCL should not be automatically unavailable following recent mis-conduct merely because the first unfair practice took place several years earlier." Slip Opn.- Dissent, p. 7. Based on

the importance of the unsettled legal question raised and the need to secure uniformity of decisional authority applying the UCL's statute of limitations, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court grant review. <u>CRC</u>, Rule 8.500(b)(1).

SUMMARY OF THE CASE

The facts of this case are straightforward and undisputed. In November 2001, Jamshid Aryeh ("Plaintiff") entered into a lease agreement with Canon Business Solutions, Inc. ("Defendant" or "Canon") for the lease of a black and white copier. Slip Opn., p. 2. Under the agreement, Plaintiff agreed to pay a monthly fee in return for a monthly copy allowance, and also agreed to pay additional excess copy charges for each additional copy beyond the monthly allotment. In February 2002, Plaintiff entered into a second lease agreement with Canon for the lease of a color copier under similar terms.

Shortly after entering into the copy rental agreements, Plaintiff began to notice that monthly meter readings taken by Canon's servicemen did not accurately reflect the actual number of copies made. Consequently, Plaintiff began keeping his own records of the number of copies made on each machine and determined that he was being charged for "Test Copies" made when Canon personnel repaired or serviced the machines. Slip Opn., p. 3. Whenever problems arose or maintenance on a copier was required, Canon

dispatched personnel to repair or service the copier, during which time the serviceman would run "Test Copies" on the copier. These Test Copies caused Plaintiff to exceed the monthly total allowable photocopies for a given month and incur additional fees. Despite Plaintiff's attempts to have Canon correct the "excessive" copying charges, Canon failed to reimburse Plaintiff for the overcharges and also charged him late fees. <u>Id</u>.

On January 31, 2008, Plaintiff filed a consumer class action complaint on behalf of himself and similarly-situated persons residing in the State of California who entered into copy rental agreements with Canon and who were overcharged for copies. Slip Opn., p. 3. The complaint alleged a single cause of action for unfair competition pursuant to the UCL (Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq.) and sought restitution for overcharges. The relief requested was limited to recovery for improper charges incurred during the four year period preceding the action. Canon demurred to the complaint and asserted, among other grounds, that the claims were barred by the four-year statute of limitations under Business & Professions Code § 17208. Finding that Plaintiff had notice of the overcharges since at least 2002, the trial court sustained the demurrer with leave to amend. Id.

Plaintiff then filed his first amended complaint which incorporated an amendment whereby Plaintiff omitted his prior reference to first discovering

the overcharges "shortly after entering into the copy rental agreements" and substituted in lieu thereof a listing of 17 *specific dates* and instances of overcharges spanning from February 6, 2002 through November 16, 2004. <u>Slip Opn.</u>, p. 3-4. Specifically, Plaintiff alleged the following unauthorized charges for Test Copies:

February 6, 2002	100 Test Copies
March 12, 2003	100 Test Copies
March 13, 2003	100 Test Copies
June 5, 2003	100 Test Copies
February 24, 2004	870 Test Copies
February 27, 2004	700 Test Copies
March 24, 2004	116 Test Copies
April 1, 2004	421 Test Copies
April 2, 2004	490 Test Copies
April 5, 2004	260 Test Copies
April 6, 2004	622 Test Copies
April 9, 2004	250 Test Copies
May 6, 2004	169 Test Copies
June 9, 2004	204 Test Copies
June 16, 2004	179 Test Copies
October 1, 2004	294 Test Copies
November 16, 2004	53 Test Copies
	_

[Appellant's Appendix filed in support of Appellant's Appeal, p. 57].

Of the 17 itemized instances, Plaintiff pursued UCL claims and sought redress for the 13 charges occurring on dates within the four years preceding the filing of the suit - in other words, after January 2004. <u>Slip Opn.</u>, p. 4.² Plaintiff

² Specifically, Plaintiff alleged "By this complaint, Plaintiff seeks to recover for amounts wrongfully obtained by Defendants from Plaintiff, and others similarly situated, in connection with Test Copies ran by Defendants from

alleged that "Each time [Canon's] servicemen ran Test Copies...was independent of any prior occasions when [Canon's] servicemen ran Test Copies" and each date "resulted in a separate and distinct violation giving rise to separate and distinct damage." <u>Id</u>. Canon demurred to the amended complaint and the trial court again sustained the demurrer with leave to amend. <u>Id</u>.

Pursuant to the trial court's directive, with the filing of the second amended complaint, Plaintiff attached copies of the November 2001 and November 2002 lease agreements. <u>Id</u>. Canon demurred again based on the statute of limitation and also argued that Plaintiff's claims were barred by laches. The trial court determined the second amended complaint was barred by the statute of limitations. The trial court stated that "there is no continuing practices doctrine that applies here" and that,

No equitable tolling that I can see that could possibly apply; [under section] 17200, when the act occurs the clock starts, and here were have an allegation that there was actual knowledge in February of 2002 in an earlier pleading. Slip Opn., p. 5.

Having concluded that Plaintiff was "concededly" aware of his claim "almost six years in advance of the suit being filed," the trial court sustained the demurrer without leave to amend. <u>Id</u>. Plaintiff filed a timely appeal.

January 31, 2004 (four years prior to the filing of this action) through the date of judgment in this action." [Appellant's Appendix, p. 59]

On June 22, 2010, the Court of Appeal, Second District filed its published opinion affirming the trial court's dismissal. In affirming the trial court's ruling, the Second District instructed that when the allegations regarding a defendant's conduct covers a period of time, the cause of action accrues at the time of the initial conduct. Slip Opn., pp.6-7. Since Plaintiff knew "shortly after" he entered into the second contract in February 2002 of Canon's alleged overcounting of copies and overcharging for them, the Second District found that Plaintiff's claims accrued six years earlier. Slip Opin., p. 8. Further, the Second District found no precedent or policy considerations to support applying a continuing violations to UCL claims. The Second District concluded:

Here, once appellant was aware he was being "overcharged" for test copies and that his protests to Canon were futile, he could and should have taken diligent action. He could not wait for years until the agreement expired while more "overcharges" accumulated before filing a complaint. Slip Opin., pp. 11-12.

Rejecting Plaintiff's assertion that the statutory clock "re-started" each distinct time Canon invaded Plaintiff's rights and caused injury, the Second District held Plaintiff's UCL claims untimely.

DISCUSSION OF THE LEGAL PRINCIPLES

1. Plaintiff Petitions This Court To Address How To Apply The UCL Statute Of Limitations When The Same Discrete Wrong Occurs Repeatedly Within And Outside Of The Statute Of Limitations

Statutes of limitations serve to protect entities and persons from having to defend against stale claims and essentially seek to put the past to rest. If individuals let too many years lapse between the accrual of a claim of wrongdoing and seeking redress, statues of limitations will declare the lawsuit time-barred. The statute of limitations for actions brought under the UCL is "four years after the cause of action accrued." Bus. & Prof. Code § 17208. Generally speaking, a cause of action accrues at "the time when the cause of action is complete with all of its elements." Fox v. Ethicon Endo-Surgery, Inc. (2005) 35 Cal.4th 797, 806, 27 Cal.Rptr.3d 661. With respect to the unfair competition laws, the four-year period begins to run when a putative plaintiff has been subjected "to an unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business act or practice" and "has suffered injury in fact and lost money or property as a result of the unfair competition." Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 and 17204. Simply put, the alleged wrongful act and the resulting sustained injury are the "triggering events" that start the running of the statutory clock. The question remains, however, whether in the context of a continuing wrong in which the same offending act is repeated, does the UCL statutory clock begin to run only

once or anew with each offending act?

A. Does The Statutory Clock Start Once Or Re-Start Each Time A Defendant Invades Plaintiff's Rights And Causes Injury?

In concluding that only the first-occurrence of the wrongful conduct triggers the statutory clock, the Court of Appeals renders free-standing conduct occurring within the preceding four years (which would otherwise be actionable, but for the prior conduct) unrecoverable. Such a rule departs from traditional principles of measuring the statute of limitations and the doctrine of continuous accrual. Justice Rubin, writing for the dissent, correctly suggests that what Plaintiff advocates is better termed the "continuous accrual" instead of the "continuous violation" doctrine. Slip Opn. - Dissent, pp. 2 and 5.3 Regardless of name, however, the majority rejected the proposition that when an "unfair, unlawful, or fraudulent conduct" recurs, a cause of action accrues *each* time a wrongful act occurs.

³ To the extent Plaintiff incorrectly labeled his theory, such is not fatal to seeking review. See, Grinzi v. San Diego Hospice Corp. (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 72, 84-85, 14 Cal.Rptr.3d 893 (observing that "appeal of a judgment of dismissal after sustaining a demurrer without leave to amend requires the consideration of whether the allegations state a cause of action under any legal theory. Under these circumstances, new theories may be advanced for the first time on appeal."); Jones v. Tracy School District (1980) 27 Cal.3d 99, 109, 165 Cal.Rptr. 100 (considering equitable tolling doctrine not previously raised stating "We have, on occasion, allowed consideration of issues not previously raised by the parties where the facts necessary for their resolution were on record.")

Plaintiff asserts that the statutory clock not only starts at the first occurrence - i.e., the time an allegedly offending act was committed and caused injury - but rather "re-starts" each time the defendant invades the plaintiff's rights and causes injury. Applied to the matter *sub judice*, Canon engaged in a new violative act under the UCL each time it overcharged Plaintiff for Test Copies. As plead and unambiguously stated in his briefing, Plaintiff is *not* pursuing claims for charges incurred outside the statutory period, *but only the thirteen (13) overcharges made by Canon during the four-year period prior to filing his complaint*.

Foreshadowing Plaintiff's theory, the Northern District of California in, Suh v. Yang (N.D. Cal. 1997) 987 F.Supp. 783, recognized the notion of multiple UCL claims, some of which occurred within the statute of limitations and some of which were outside the statute. Slip Opn.- Dissent, p. 9 (dissenting opinion that "Using legal jargon, the present case is on 'all fours' with Suh.") In Suh, the plaintiff alleged trademark infringement and unfair competition claims based on defendant's use of "Kuk Sool Won" and "World Kook Sool Association" logo marks that were first used approximately nine years prior to the filing of the complaint. Suh, supra, 987 F.Supp. at 795. Rejecting defendant's statute of limitations defense, the district court found that plaintiff was subjected to a series of multiple wrongs in that the allegedly

infringing display of defendant's service name on products and advertisements could create a separate cause of action for unfair competition and trademark infringement. <u>Id.</u> at 796. Specifically, the <u>Suh</u> court stated,

[p]laintiff's claims for unfair competition would not be barred by the four-year statute of limitations since the alleged wrongs (i.e., the wrongful use and dilution of Suh's service marks) are multiple, continuous acts, and some of these acts have occurred within the limitations period. Id. at 795. [emphasis added]

The district court concluded that plaintiff's claims involved repeated acts of wrongful appropriation, each creating "a separate cause of action for unfair competition and trademark infringement." <u>Id.</u> at 796.

Outside of the UCL, California courts have long acknowledged that when an obligation or liability arises on a recurring basis, a cause of action accrues each time a wrongful act occurs, triggering a new limitations period. This Court, for example, applied continuous accrual to plaintiffs' claims in Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association v. City Of La Habra (2001) 25 Cal.4th 809, 107 Cal.Rptr.2d 369. In Howard, while the original enactment of the City's Ordinance was an event giving rise to plaintiffs' cause of action to invalidate a tax, it was not the only event. Id. at 819. The Court found that taxpayers had alleged an ongoing violation based on the City's continued imposition of a tax without voter approval and that the statute of limitations began anew with each collection. See, Howard, supra, 25 Cal.4th at 821-822

(stating that those causes of action are not barred merely because similar claims could have been made at earlier times as to earlier violations.) The Court also limited the claims to "injuries occurring in the statutory three-year period before suit is brought and applies only to plaintiffs injured by tax collections within the three-year period." <u>Id</u>. at 825.

Likewise, the Courts of Appeal have recognized the applicability of continuous accrual in cases involving public entities and breach of contract. In Hogar Dulce Hogar v. Community Development Com'n Of City Of Escondido (2003) 110 Cal. App. 4th 1288, 1298, 2 Cal. Rptr. 3d 497 the Fourth District found that plaintiff's claims were subject to the continuing accrual rule and held that the statute of limitations began to run on each date that the redevelopment agency's payments were actually due. Citing Howard, the appellate court held "[I]n instances of long-standing statutory violations, the continuing accrual rule effectively limits the amount of retroactive relief a plaintiff or petitioner can obtain to the benefits or obligations which came due within the limitations period." <u>Id</u>. at 1296. <u>See also, Armstrong Petroleum</u> Corp. v. Tri-Valley Oil & Gas Co. (2004) 116 Cal. App. 4th 1375 (affirming application of the continuous accrual rule to contractual arrangements with periodic payments, including an oil and gas operating agreement).

The Second District also recognized the continuous accrual doctrine in

State ex. rel. Metz v. CCC Information Services, Inc. (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 402, 57 Cal.Rptr.3d 156 and Tsemetzin v. Coast Federal Savings And Loan Association (1997) 57 Cal.App.4th 1334, 67 Cal.Rptr.2d 726. In Metz, the Court observed that:

When an obligation of liability arises on a recurring basis, a cause of action accrues each time a wrongful act occurs, triggering a new limitations period. The continuing accrual rule has been applied in a variety of actions involving the obligations to make periodic payments under California statute or regulations. Metz, supra, 149 Cal.App. at 418. [emphasis added]

The Metz court, nonetheless, declined to apply continuing accrual to the facts before it because Metz's action did not involve recurring obligations, but rather fraudulent statements arising out of a single insurance claim resolved prior to the limitations period. Id. In Tsemetizin, the Court held that periodic monthly payments called for by a lease agreement create severable contractual obligations where the duty to make each rental payment arises independently and the statute begins to run from the time performance of each is due. Tsemetzin, supra, 57 Cal.App.4th at 1344. Since defendant's obligation to pay increased rent commenced each month when such payment was due and not paid, plaintiff was permitted to recover all unpaid rental installments falling within the four-year statutory period. Id.

Like traditional principles governing the statute of limitations, the

continuing accrual doctrine examines the same triggering events: the act and resulting injury. As Justice Rubin stated, continuous accrual "Acknowledges the reality that similar acts can continue to occur: one can breach the same contract over and over again in substantially the same manner. Earlier conduct is not *extended* but *repeated*." Slip Opn.- Dissent, p. 5. [emphasis in original] Like any statute of limitations, it gives plaintiff a reasonable time to seek redress for his inflictions and holds defendant accountable *each* time it acts. Thus, continuous accrual is nothing more than the normal application of a statue of limitations measured against a series of acts, rather than one individual act.

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