IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JAMSHID ARYEH, Plaintiff and Appellant,

SUPREME COURT FILED

v.

SEP **01** 2010

CANON BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

Frederick K. Ohlrigh Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight Case No. B213104

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DORSEY & WHITNEY LLP KENT J. SCHMIDT Cal. Bar No. 195969 JOHN P. CLEVELAND Cal. Bar No. 239749 38 Technology Drive, Suite 100 Irvine, California 92618-5310 Telephone: (949) 932-3600 Facsimile: (949) 932-3601

I. <u>INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED</u>

Plaintiff-Petitioner Jamshid Aryeh ("Plaintiff") is the owner of a copy shop in Los Angeles. He attempted to use this lawsuit, in which he asserted a single claim for recovery of, at most, several hundred dollars, as a vehicle for pursuing what he apparently hoped would be a lucrative class action under the Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Professions Code §§ 17200 et seq. ("UCL"). Plaintiff acquired two Canon-brand copiers from Defendant-Respondent Canon Business Solutions, Inc. ("Canon") pursuant to written lease agreements providing, among other things, that he would be responsible for small additional payments to Canon, of pennies per copy or less, for copies made on his machines that exceeded certain specified monthly allotments ("excess copy charges"). Plaintiff claimed that, to the extent Canon imposed "excess copy charges" for copies made by Canon service technicians during the course of maintaining or repairing such machines (which Plaintiff refers to as "test copies"), such charges violated the UCL.

Having granted Plaintiff three opportunities to plead a sustainable cause of action, the trial court dismissed this lawsuit with prejudice where:

- Plaintiff alleged that Canon began to impose "excess copy charges" for "test copies" in early 2002, shortly after he commenced leasing his copiers, and that he fully understood that he was being charged for "test copies" at that time.
- Plaintiff alleged that he objected to such charges and immediately complained to Canon about them, and began to keep his own records of the number of copies made on his copiers.

- Plaintiff alleged that he incurred improper "excess copy charges" for "test copies" on seventeen (17) occasions beginning in February 2002 and concluding in November 2004. Yet, despite his allegation that he was aware from the start of the purported impropriety of such charges, Plaintiff never refused to pay them, nor did he take any other contemporaneous action to seek redress from Canon. Instead, he continued to enjoy the benefits of the agreements that he had entered into with Canon, the last of which, by its terms, expired in early 2007.
- Meanwhile, Canon commenced a lawsuit against Plaintiff in 2005, seeking payment for services and supplies that it provided for Plaintiff's copiers. That action, initially litigated in small claims court and later affirmed in a Superior Court trial *de novo* during which Plaintiff was represented by counsel, concluded with a final judgment in Canon's favor. Plaintiff apparently made no attempt to seek redress or setoff from Canon in that action, despite the fact that every allegedly improper "excess copy charge" for "test copies" for which he sought recovery in this action had already been incurred.
- Plaintiff finally sought redress by commencing this action in January 2008. This was (i) nearly six (6) years after Plaintiff learned that purportedly improper charges were being imposed by Canon; (ii) more than three (3) years after the last instance when Plaintiff allegedly was charged by Canon for "test copies"; (iii) more than two (2) years after Plaintiff was sued by Canon in the intervening 2005 lawsuit; and (iv) nearly a year after the second of the two lease agreements between Plaintiff and Canon expired by its terms.

 Despite being questioned by the trial court as to why he failed to act sooner, and despite having had several opportunities to explain his dilatory conduct, Plaintiff never gave any reason for his inordinate delay in asserting his claim against Canon.

The trial court sustained Canon's demurrer to Plaintiff's second amended complaint, dismissing the single UCL claim with prejudice on each of the four separate legal bases argued by Canon: (i) that Plaintiff's claim accrued in early 2002 and was barred by the four-year statute of limitations set forth in Cal. Bus. & Professions Code § 17208; (ii) that the doctrine of laches barred Plaintiff's claim because of his unexplained six-year failure to take action against Canon; (iii) that the doctrines of res judicata and/or collateral estoppel barred Plaintiff's claim as a result of the final judgment of the Superior Court entered in Canon's favor against Plaintiff in the intervening 2005 lawsuit; and (iv) that "excess copy charges" for "test copies" were neither "deceptive" nor "unfair," and, therefore, that Plaintiff's UCL claim did not allege a sustainable cause of action.

The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's judgment, holding that, on the authority of *Snapp & Associates Insurance Services, Inc. v. Robertson,* 96 Cal. App. 4th 884 (2002), Plaintiff's UCL claim accrued in early 2002 and thus was barred by the UCL's four-year statute of limitations. Plaintiff's Petition seeks review of this determination on the grounds that (i) the law is "unsettled" with respect to whether UCL claims based upon allegedly improper recurring charges beginning prior to the limitations period and continuing into it are barred by the statute of limitations, and (ii) a relevant "split in appellate authority" exists

concerning the "delayed discovery rule." Both of these contentions are erroneous.

First, the law on this point is *not* "unsettled." Only two reported decisions by California courts – *Snapp* and this case – address whether UCL claims based upon recurring charges commencing outside the limitations period and continuing into it are barred by the statute of limitations. Those decisions are entirely consistent. Plaintiff seeks to imply uncertainty in the law by arguing, for the first time, that a legal concept never applied by a California court to a UCL claim and not argued below – the "continuous accrual rule" – should be imported into the UCL to salvage his claim. Plaintiff offers no valid basis for this Court to alter the existing law relating to the accrual of UCL claims and thereby resurrect Plaintiff's stale cause of action.

Second, Plaintiff's attempt to manufacture a relevant "split in appellate authority" concerning the "delayed discovery rule" is inapposite. The "delayed discovery" rule has nothing to do with this case. As both parties argued below, and as the Court of Appeal held, the "delayed discovery rule" is not implicated in this action, since it is undisputed that Plaintiff "discovered" Canon's alleged misconduct contemporaneously with its commission. The Court of Appeal's references to Plaintiff's knowledge of Canon's purported misconduct emphasized the controlling fact mandating dismissal — that, despite Plaintiff's belief that he had been wronged by Canon, he inexplicably sat on his purported rights for nearly six (6) years before taking any action, and by doing so permitted his claim to lapse.

Accordingly, since Plaintiff has failed to cite any legitimate basis for review of the Court of Appeal's decision, the Petition should be denied.

II. RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF'S SUMMARY OF THE CASE

The "Summary of the Case" contained in the Petition omits a number of important undisputed facts relevant to Plaintiff's request for review, as follows.

A. The Parties' Agreements and the Disputed Charges

In November 2001 and February 2002, Plaintiff entered into written agreements with Canon (an authorized retail dealer of and service provider for Canon-brand business equipment, including Canon-brand copiers) pursuant to which he leased two copiers for his copy shop business. (Appellant's Appendix of Documents on Appeal ("App.") 125-126, 134-139 (Second Amended Complaint ("SAC"), ¶¶ 12, 13 and Exs. 1, 2).) In the agreements, Plaintiff consented to specified monthly lease payments for each copier for the five-year duration of the agreements. Plaintiff also agreed to a "monthly copy allowance" for each copier (*i.e.*, a specified number of copies that could be made on each copier without incurring additional charges), and to a small, specified "excess copy charge" for each "excess copy" made over and above the "monthly copy allowance." (*Id.*)

Plaintiff alleged that, "shortly after" entering into his second agreement with Canon in February 2002, he realized that, in certain instances, Canon was including, as part of the "excess copy charges" imposed pursuant to the terms of the agreements, charges for "test copies" made by Canon service technicians while providing maintenance and repair services for Plaintiff's copiers. (See App. 4 (Original Complaint, ¶ 14).) Plaintiff alleged that he complained at that time to Canon about such charges, and began keeping his own record of the number of copies made on his machines. (Id.)

Plaintiff further alleged that "excess copy charges" for "test copies" were imposed on seventeen (17) separate occasions beginning in February 2002 and extending to November 2004. (App. 126-127 (SAC, ¶ 14).) Depending upon which of the two copiers were used to make the "test copies," the total amount of "excess copy charges" for "test copies" incurred could have been as little as \$35.20, or as much as \$615.43.¹ Importantly, Plaintiff did *not* allege that he refused to pay such charges, or that he took any other actions in furtherance of his purported objections to them. Nor did Plaintiff allege that Canon misrepresented to him at any time that "excess copy charges" would not, or did not, include charges for "test copies," or that Canon took any actions that hindered Plaintiff's ability to seek redress for Canon's purported misconduct.

Nevertheless, Plaintiff alleged that the imposition of "excess copy charges" for "test copies" constituted a UCL violation. Plaintiff essentially contended that the meaning of the word "copy" in the phrase "excess copy charges" as used in the parties' agreements was limited only to copies made by Plaintiff himself. Canon's position was that, if such charges in fact were imposed,² they were entirely proper and consistent with the parties' agreements. Those agreements contemplated "excess copy charges" for any copies made beyond the specified monthly allotments, including copies

Plaintiff never specified on which of his two copiers the relevant "test copies" were made, but the "excess copy charges" for the two copiers as set forth in the parties' agreements were \$.007 per copy (for the Canon-brand model IR8500 "black and white" copier leased by Plaintiff) and \$.1224 per copy (for the more expensive Canon-brand model CLC 1120 color copier leased by Plaintiff). (App. 134-139 (SAC Exs. 1, 2).)

² Canon did not concede that such charges were actually imposed, but, for purposes of its demurrers, assumed the truth of Plaintiff's allegations.

necessarily made by service technicians performing maintenance and repairs that benefited Plaintiff by keeping his copiers in good working order.

Notwithstanding Plaintiff's attempt to employ such facts as a basis for a class action, it is apparent that this dispute was nothing more than a disagreement concerning the meaning of the word "copy" in the contractual term "excess copy charges" – specifically, whether "copy" means *all* copies made on the copiers (Canon's position), or only *certain types* of copies made on the machines (Plaintiff's position).

B. The Parties' Intervening Litigation

In July 2005, Canon commenced a small claims lawsuit against Plaintiff. (App. 187-89 (Claim and Order to Go to Small Claims Court).) Canon sought recovery of \$2,152.82 in unpaid charges for service and supplies that it provided for Plaintiff's copiers. (*Id.*) All of the "excess copy charges" for "test copies" alleged by Plaintiff in the instant action were incurred prior to Canon's commencement of the small claims action, yet Plaintiff did not assert a counterclaim against Canon, and apparently did not argue that he was entitled to setoff such charges against any judgment that Canon could obtain against him. The small claims proceeding resulted in a judgment in Canon's favor. (App. 190-91 (Notice of Filing Appeal and Notice of Appeal).) Plaintiff appealed, and in December 2005, a trial *de novo* was conducted before the Superior Court, at which Plaintiff was represented by counsel. (*Id.*) That proceeding resulted in a final judgment in Canon's favor for the full amount sought by Canon in its complaint. (App. 192 (Judgment After Trial De Novo).)

C. Proceedings Before the Trial Court

This action was commenced on January 31, 2008. (See App. 1-10 (Original Complaint).) The sketchy allegations asserted in the original complaint contended that Canon had violated the UCL by imposing unspecified "overcharges" upon Plaintiff beginning "[s]hortly after" the parties' agreements were executed in early 2002. (Id.) Canon's demurrer to the original complaint was sustained on the ground that Plaintiff's UCL claim was barred by the applicable four-year statute of limitations, but the trial court granted Plaintiff leave to file an amended complaint. (App. 52 (Minute Order).)

Plaintiff's amended complaint set forth more specific allegations establishing that Plaintiff was challenging Canon's imposition of "excess copy charges" for "test copies." (See App. 57-58 (First Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 14, 15).) Plaintiff sought to plead around the statute of limitations by improperly splitting the claim asserted in his original complaint. Plaintiff alleged that, although the imposition of the purportedly improper charges began in early 2002, he was now seeking recovery only for charges imposed in 2004 (i.e., charges incurred less than four years prior to the commencement of the action). (Id.) Canon again demurred, arguing, among other things, that Plaintiff's claim was barred by the statute of limitations. (App. 66-87 (Demurrer to First Amended Complaint).) Plaintiff argued that the "continuing violations doctrine" should be applied to salvage his claim. (App. 93-97 (Opposition to Demurrer to First Amended Complaint); Reporters Transcript on Appeal ("Rptr. Trans.") B-9:12-B-12:2, B-21:13-B-23:2.)

During the demurrer hearing, the trial court inquired concerning Plaintiff's reasons for failing to commence his action sooner, something that Plaintiff had not addressed in either of his two pleadings. (Rptr. Trans. B-11:20-27.) Plaintiff's counsel responded that "It doesn't matter" and "I don't know the answer to that." (Rptr. Trans. B-11-:28-B-12:2.) The trial court sustained Canon's demurrer, but again granted Plaintiff leave to replead, directing Plaintiff to attach copies of the parties' agreements to his second amended complaint (which Plaintiff had failed to do with respect to his first two pleadings). (Rptr. Trans. B-23:3-B-23:8.)

The second amended complaint was largely duplicative of the amended complaint, and again did not include an explanation for Plaintiff's delay in commencing his action. As had been the case in his prior pleadings, Plaintiff asserted only one claim, for violation of the UCL. (See App. 122-140 (SAC).) Canon again demurred, asserting four grounds for dismissal: (i) the expiration of the statute of limitations; (ii) the laches doctrine; (iii) the doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel; and (iv) failure to state a cause of action. (See App. 141-63 (Demurrer to SAC).) Plaintiff again argued that his claim was timely by reason of the "continuing violations doctrine." (App. 208-211 (Opposition to Demurrer to SAC); Rptr. Trans. C-3:17-C-9:10.) The trial court sustained Canon's demurrer with prejudice. Its order of dismissal cited all four grounds asserted by Canon as bases for its ruling. (App. 231-32 (Order Sustaining Demurrer by Canon to SAC).)

D. The Court of Appeal's Decision

Plaintiff appealed the dismissal, and on June 22, 2010, the Court of Appeal affirmed. *See Aryeh v. Canon Business Solutions, Inc.*, 185 Cal. App. 4th 1159 (2010). The Court of Appeal addressed only one of the four legal bases cited in the trial court's order of dismissal and argued by Canon

in favor of affirmance, holding that Plaintiff's UCL claim was barred by the applicable four-year statute of limitations. Relying upon *Snapp & Assoc. Ins. Services, Inc. v. Robertson, 96* Cal. App. 4th 884 (2002), the Court of Appeal held that: (i) Plaintiff's UCL claim accrued when Canon's imposition of "excess copy charges" for "test copies" began in early 2002; (ii) the "continuing violations doctrine," which Plaintiff had argued applied to his claim and mandated reversal, was not applicable; and (iii) Plaintiff's nearly six-year delay in commencing his action established that his claim was time-barred. *Id.*

III. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

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